## UC Santa Cruz UC Santa Cruz Electronic Theses and Dissertations

### Title

FEZF2's Role in Differentiation and Proliferation in Radial Glial Cells During Cortical Development

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3fv4h1jf

Author Huebner, Liora

Publication Date 2020

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

#### UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA SANTA CRUZ

#### FEZF2'S ROLE IN DIFFERENTIATION AND PROLIFERATION IN RADIAL GLIAL CELLS DURING CORTICAL DEVELOPMENT

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

#### MOLECULAR, CELL, AND DEVELOPMENTAL BIOLOGY

by

#### Liora Huebner

December 2020

The Thesis of Liora Huebner is approved:

Professor Bin Chen, Chair

Professor David Feldheim

Professor Euiseok Kim

Quentin Williams

Acting Vice Provost and Dean of Graduate Studies

Copyright © by Liora Huebner 2020

#### **Table of Contents**

	<u>Page</u>
List of Figures	iv
Abstract	v
Acknowledgments	vi
Introduction	1
Anterior-Posterior and Lateral-Medial Embryonic Neural Development	2
Dorsal-Ventral Embryonic Neural Development	3
Radial Glial Cells and the Development of the Neocortex	4
Fezf2 in Cortical Development	6
FEZF2 in RGCs	7
Our Technique	8
Results	9
Absence of Fezf2 increases RGC proliferation but reduces Intermediate Progenitor differentiation	13
Absence of FEZF2 in RGCs likely does not impact glial or OB interneuron generation	16
Lineage Tracing suggests knocking out Fezf2 does not impact identity of RGC clones	19
Discussion	20
Methods	24
Table 1	27
Table 2	28
References	29

### List of Figures

Illustration 1	3
Illustration 2	4
Illustration 3	5
Figure 1	9
Figure 2	10
Figure 3	12
Figure 4	15
Figure 5	18

#### Abstract

# FEZF2'S ROLE IN DIFFERENTIATION AND PROLIFERATION IN RADIAL GLIAL CELLS DURING CORTICAL DEVELOPMENT

#### Liora Huebner

Radial glial cells (RGCs) are multipotent progenitors that give rise to excitatory projection neurons, OB interneurons, oligodendrocytes and astrocytes in a temporarily and spatially regulated manner. The transcription factor FEZF2 is necessary for cortical deep layer neuron specification in postmitotic neurons. However, the function of FEZF2 in regulating proliferation and differentiation of RGCs during cortical development and into adulthood is poorly understood. Temporally regulated lineage tracing of RGC clones in the *Fezf2 KO* and *WT* shows that an absence of FEZF2 did not substantially impact the generation of glia. Similarly, when *Fezf2* is conditionally knocked out in RGCs at E13.5, neither glia nor OB interneuron generation is affected. Despite *Fezf2's* negligent influence on differentiation, our quit fraction and intermediate progenitor analysis of the *cKO* in the V/SVZ suggests that FEZF2 reduces the proliferative lifespan of RGCs and leads to preferential differentiation of RGCs into neural intermediate progenitors.

#### Acknowledgements

This study was funded by grants to B Chen (NIH R01 MH094589 and R01 NS089777). I would like to thank Bin Chen for being an inspiration through her tireless passion and enthusiasm for developmental neuroscience, for being an excellent and encouraging mentor and for never losing faith in me. Additionally, I would like to thank Jeremiah Tsyporin for being a best friend and the leader of our project. He brightened my day through our shared humor that always kept me going when I was losing faith. Simultaneously, his patience while teaching, guidance and unbelievable work ethic is an inspiration I will carry with me. None of this would be possible without David Tastad, who hired me as his undergraduate and taught me the skills required for research. Throughout the years his scientific expertise, advice and emotional support was essential to my success. I would like to thank Xiaoyi Guo for her positive attitude and helpful, friendly nature, Kendy Hoang for his comradery and Cosmo Hahn for his assistance with experiments. I would like to thank Mama for always knowing exactly the right thing to say to make me feel better, Papa for his insightful perspective and advice and my sister for being kind, funny and supportive. I would also like to thank my thesis committee, Professors Euiseok Kim and David Feldheim for their valuable feedback and knowledge. I would like to thank Professors Bill Saxton and Todd Lowe for being great teachers that continued to spark my curiosity and fascination of biology. I will never forget and am so grateful for the entirety of the Chen lab that has been a family to me during this unbelievably challenging, rewarding and enlightening time called Graduate school. I have never been so sure that I was exactly where I was supposed to be. The internal strength and perseverance this program cultivated in me has prepared me for my future.

vi

#### Introduction

Striving to understand how consciousness and self awareness could arise from the signals sent between 100 billion neurons has been one of the greatest challenges of mankind (28). The brain develops through precise temporal and spatial generation of numerous types of neurons and the glia that support and regulate their function (31). Gene expression patterns dictate the characteristics that an immature postmitotic neuron will acquire. These include the type of neurotransmitter and receptor, the number of processes, cell body size, electrophysiological properties and their projections (32). The large surface area of the human cortex, with its dense neuron population and six layers folding and bending to form a complex labyrinth of sulci and gyri, is what gives humans the unique ability to perform higher cognitive tasks (32). Despite mice having smooth cortices, their cortex is also divided into six layers, analogous to the human cortex. Therefore, studying the development of their cortex. provides humans insight into our own. Transcription factors, such as FEZ Family Zinc Finger 2 (Fezf2) which are conserved between mouse and human, are necessary for regulating the timely differentiation into specific cortical neuronal subtypes (16). Defects in cortical neurogenesis have been shown to lead to a variety of mental disorders and disabilities (36, 37). For example, Transcription factors such as FEZF2, TBR1, SOX5 and SATB2 have been linked to ASD and intellectual deficiency (29). Radial glial cells (RGCs) give rise to the cortical neurons and glia (38). Therefore, understanding the precise molecular mechanisms regulating RGC differentiation may prove critical for advancing our understanding of cognitive disorders and neurodegenerative diseases. This understanding will be invaluable for manufacturing new or improved therapeutics. This thesis strives to elucidate the perinatal role of *Fezf2* expression in the differentiation and proliferation of RGCs in the dorsal forebrain.

#### Anterior-Posterior and Lateral-Medial Embryonic Neural Development

The nervous system arises from a simple structure called the neural tube (31). The neural tube becomes specified along different axes based off of gradients of transcription factors and external signaling molecules. Starting at Embryonic day 7.5 (E7.5) in mice, the anterior-posterior axis of the developing nervous system is regulated by anterior transcription factor (TF) OTX2 and posterior TF GBX2 which determine the mid-hindbrain boundary (31). At E8.5, the neuroectoderm folds inward, forming the neural tube. Meanwhile, Fibroblast Growth factor 8 (Fgf8), which is critical for forebrain induction, begins being expressed at the anterior pole (31, 30). At E9.5 a singular forebrain vesicle separates into the telencephalic and diencephalic vesicles (6). The telencephalic vesicle develops into the telencephalon, which will develop into the cortex and other structures (6). By E10.5 and E11.5, opposing gradients of the transcription factors PAX6 and EMX2 specify regions of the cortex (31). High caudomedial expression of *Emx2* promotes development of the V1 region (7). Conservesly high expression of *Pax6* promotes development of the motor and somatosensory regions, which are the cortical regions examined in this study (31, 7).



## **Illustration 1: Depiction of anterior-posterior neural development.** Created on BioRender.

#### **Dorsal-Ventral Embryonic Neural Development**

Simultaneously, once the neural tube is formed, the dorsal-ventral axis is determined by the opposing concentration gradients of ventrally secreted Sonic Hedgehog (Shh), dorsally secreted Bone Morphogenetic Proteins (BMPs) and Wnt signaling protein (31, 39). The notochord, which is immediately ventral to the neural tube, secretes Shh which induces floorplate formation and a positive feedback loop in which more Shh is secreted from the floorplate (31). The floorplate is the most ventral part of the neural tube. The most ventral neural tissue with the highest Shh concentration triggers NKX2.2<sup>+</sup> and NKX6.1<sup>+</sup> cells. Cells with intermediate levels of Shh express *Olig2*, and tissue with little to no Shh exposure adopt a PAX7<sup>+</sup> dorsal fate (31). Neural stem cells (NSCs) in the dorsal forebrain and dorsally fated cell types are the focus of this study.





#### Radial Glial Cells and the Development of the Neocortex

At E9, the telencephalon begins its development into the cortex (31). The internal neuroepithelium adjacent to the lateral ventricle is lined with apical progenitors (APs) (8). These APs have fibral extensions with endfeet that adhere to the basal pial membrane and exhibit interkinetic nuclear migration, such that the vertical movement of the nuclei is cell cycle dependent (9). During S and G2 phase, transport of the microtubule-associated protein Tpx2 from the nuclei to the apical process allows for apical nuclear migration along its own radial extension, so that mitosis occurs in the ventricular zone. Subsequently, the nucleus travels basally during G1 phase (9). APs initially undergo symmetrical division in order to increase the progenitor pool size (9). By E11, asymmetrical cell division begins in which the

progenitor daughter cell remains in the ventricular zone and the neuronal daughter cell inherits the radial fiber (9). Using the radial fiber, the postmitotic immature excitatory neuron travels radially which thickens the neuroepithelium as it gradually transforms into the cortex (10). Eventually, APs divide to generate neural intermediate progenitors cells (nIPCs) which reside in the subventricular zone where each nIPC will generate between 2-4 postmitotic excitatory neurons (10).



**Illustration 3: Depiction of radial glial cell division and neuron generation.** Newly born neurons migrate along radial glial extensions to the cortical plate. Created on BioRender.

The neocortex develops in an inside-out manner such that the neurons born first between E11 and E13 generate the deeper layers (V and VI), followed by the upper layers (II, III, IV) during E13 to E16 (31). Therefore, the upper layer neurons must travel past the deep layer neurons to reach their final destination (8, 9). Excitatory glutamatergic projection neurons constitute two-thirds of the neurons in the mammalian cerebral cortex and are critical for higher cognitive processing (40).

At E17, NSCs or RGCs switch from generating cortical neurons to generating olfactory bulb (OB) interneurons and cortical neural supporting glial cells: astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (8, 9). The remaining RGCs in the lateral ventricle continue to proliferate into adulthood, however at a much slower rate (41). FEZF2 is one of the transcription factors expressed in RGCs during cortical development and into adulthood, according to unpublished data from our lab.

#### FEZF2 in Cortical Development

*Fezf2* was first discovered as an anterior neuroectoderm-specific gene in Xenopus and zebrafish (1). Phenotypes exhibited by Fezf2 mutant mice include abnormal craniofacial, gustatory, and respiratory morphology, increased mortality, premature aging and overall smaller body size (3). Mutants also display abnormal behaviors such as running in circles (3). FEZF2 is a transcription factor partially composed of an engrailed homology 1 (*Eh1*) repressor motif and six C2H2 zinc finger domains (42). THE EH1 domain interacts with TLE (Transducin-like enhancer of Split) transcriptional co-repressors to generate a strong transcription repression complex in xenopus (1). The zinc finger domains interact directly with DNA (12). Our lab came to this conclusion through generation of a *Fezf2-Bac-Enr; Fezf2<sup>-/-</sup>* mice which rescued the cortical phenotype of the *Fezf2* mutant mice (12). *Fezf2* is expressed in Layers 5 and 6 of the developing cortex in postmitotic excitatory neurons and is

essential for excitatory deep layer neuron specification in the mouse cortex (4). In the absence of *Fezf2* expression, axon fasciculation is prevented, most of these Layer V neurons no longer project to subcerebral areas such as the brainstem and spinal cord (4). As well as being required for proper axonal projection, it also determines dendritic morphology (4). A knockdown of *Fezf2* in Layer V of the primary motor cortex using silencing RNAs causes a reduction in cell body size, dendritic complexity, dendritic spine length and the radial length of basal dendrites and an alteration in the radial orientation of apical dendrites (4). Layer II/III neurons which usually project in a cortico-cortical manner were found to express Tbr1 (a deep layer marker) and instead project to subcerebral targets when Fezf2 was ectopically expressed (4).

Therefore, *Fezf2* expression is not only necessary for deep layer neuron fate specification, but also sufficient to induce characteristics specific to deep layer neurons when ectopically expressed (4). Markedly, Corticospinal motor neurons, which *Fezf2*'s expression is necessary to generate, are the same neurons which undergo apoptosis in the devastating neurodegenerative disease Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (5). This disease has a very rapid onset in which victims lose all motor abilities and eventually die from losing control of respiratory muscles (5). Understanding the molecular mechanisms underlying how specific cell types are initially generated may be key to determining how to combat their eventual degeneration.

#### FEZF2 in RGCs

Ectopic Fezf2 expression in upper cortical layers, late cortical progenitors and lateral ganglionic eminence progenitors is substantial to induce deep layer neuron characteristics, however not all *Fezf2* expressing RGCs (fRGCs) are lineage restricted to cortical excitatory deep-layer neurons (11, 16, 43, 44, 26, 45). Fezf2 is expressed in the dorsal and medial regions of the lateral ventricle from Embryonic day 10 into adulthood and only during a tiny fraction of this time are these neurons generated (11). Timed Lineage tracing using *Fezf2* 

*Cre-ER* and a *RCEGFP* reporter showed that Fezf2<sup>+</sup> RGCs generate corticothalamic projection neurons (CThPN), subcerebral projection neurons (ScPN), callosal projection neurons (CPN), astrocytes and oligodendrocytes in a time dependent manner (11). Further research was conducted to determine at what stage of differentiation *Fezf2* expression became crucial for cortical development. At Postnatal day 7 (P7) the somatosensory cortex of *Fezf2* knockout mice (*KO*) and *Fezf2* conditional knockout mice, in which *Fezf2* was knocked out only in postmitotic neurons displayed the same cortical phenotype (12). Specifically, the cortex exhibited identical disruptions in the expression patterns of cortical deep layer specific transcription factors, such as BHLHB5, CTIP2 and SOX5 when *Fezf2* was completely absent as when it is only absent in postmitotic neurons (12). This result indicates that deep layer specification is decided within the immature FEZF2<sup>+</sup> postmitotic neuron and not at the level of its progenitor cell (12). Further, if neuronal cell fate specification occurred only within the RGC, then knocking out *Fezf2* in the postmitotic neuron would not influence neuronal cortical development.

FEZF2 in RGCs does not play a fundamental role in regulating cortical neurogenesis. Nevertheless, *Fezf*2 is expressed in the cortical RGCs during development and into adulthood. This thesis strives to understand how *Fezf*2 expression in RGCs impacts their proliferation and differentiation.

#### **Our Technique**

To address how *Fezf2* expression in RGCs influences differentiation, Jeremiah Tsyporin and I performed timed lineage tracing of Fezf2<sup>+</sup> RGCs from E14.5 to P7 in *Fezf2* knockout and wildtype mice. I quantified the percentage of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells that express oligodendrocyte and astrocyte specific protein markers in the cortex. I analyzed the same markers in the cortex, as well as OB interneuron specific markers in the *Fezf2* RGC

conditional knockout (*cKO*),  $Fezf2^{t/-}hGFAPcre^{+/-}$ . To address proliferation, we analyzed the quit fraction and the ratio of dividing nIPCs in the VZ and SVZ of the *cKO* at E17.5 and PO.

### Results



Figure 1: FEZF2 immunostaining in the dorsal VZ at P0.



#### Figure 2: Absence of FEZF2 in RGCs lengthens the proliferation period of NSCs in the

**VZ at E17.5 and P0. A-E**. EdU, KI67 and PH3 labeled cells in the dLV. **A-D** shows KI67<sup>+</sup> cells clustering closer to the ventricular zone in the *cKO*(bottom panel) than in the control(top panel.) There is a decrease in quit fraction in the *cKO* when EdU is administered at E18.5 and brains collected 24 hours later at P0 (**A**) and when EdU is administered at E16.5 and brains collected 24 hours later at E17.5(**C**). **B.** There is no significant change in the number of proliferating cells when EdU is given 2 hours before harvesting at P0. (n.s. = not significant) **A-C.** n=3 brains, 3 sections per brain (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, student's paired T-test). **D.** Significance cannot be determined. n=1 brain, 3 sections per brain. **E.** There is no significant change in the total number of cells undergoing mitosis at E17.5. n=3 brains, 3 sections per brain (\*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, student's unpaired T-test). Error bars represent SEM.





**Figure 3:** Absence of FEZF2 in RGCs results in decrease of Intermediate progenitors perinatally. A-B. Immunohistochemistry of KI67<sup>+</sup> and TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells in the dLV of controls(top panel) and *cKO*(bottom panel) at E17.5 and P0. C-D. There is no significant change in the rate of IP proliferation, quantified by (TBR2<sup>+</sup>KI67<sup>+</sup>)/TBR2<sup>+</sup>. C-F. Each dot represents the average of three sections from the same brain. n=3 brains, 3 sections per brain (student's unpaired T-test). Error bars represent SEM. E-F. There is a significant decrease in the number of TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells at E17.5 (p= 0.0337) and P0 (p= 0.0494) in the *cKO*. (Student's unpaired t-test, \*p<0.05). G. The Ventricular and subventricular zone of the dLV in the *cKO* and *wt* illustrate a similar phenotype at E17.5 and slight decrease of TBR2<sup>+</sup> IPs at P0. H. The ratio of TBR2<sup>+</sup> IPs that are in the process of dividing between E16.5 and R17.5 and between E18.5 and P0. I. The ratio of dividing cells that differentiate into TBR2+ IPs within a 24 hour window. H-I.The white and striped bars represent littermate controls. Each dot represents the quantification from one section. Significance cannot be determined. n=1, 3 sections per brain. Error bars represent SEM.

## Absence of Fezf2 increases RGC proliferation but reduces Intermediate Progenitor differentiation

Antibody detection shows that *Fezf2* is expressed in the cortical VZ at P0 (Figure 1). In order to investigate how FEZF2 affects RGC proliferation and differentiation into TBR2<sup>+</sup> nIPCs, *Fezf2* was conditionally knocked out in RGCs using *Fezf2<sup>fl/-</sup> hGFAP-Cre* mice(*cKO*). To determine if Fezf2 affects cell cycle exit, I administered EdU to E16.5 pregnant mice, and collected the brains 24 hours later. Then the quit fraction was determined by the ratio of EdU<sup>+</sup> cells that are KI67<sup>-</sup>. KI67 labels all cells in active phases of the cell cycle (G1, S, G2, M) (33). A significantly reduced quit fraction in the VZ/SVZ at E17.5 and P0 in the *cKO* indicates the NSCs are exiting the cell cycle at a lower rate, and thereby exhibiting a lower rate of differentiation (Figure 2A, C).

By calculating the fraction of TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells that are KI67<sup>+</sup> at E17.5 and P0, I found that IP proliferation is unaffected by FEZF2 (Figure 3C, D). TBR2 is present in nIPCs and in the early postmitotic neurons they give rise to (34). To further verify this result, I determined the fraction of TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells that are still dividing between E16.5 and E17.5 and between E18.5 and P0, by giving EdU 24 hours prior to harvesting and EdU<sup>+</sup>TBR2<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> appears to remain unchanged based on the data presented (Figure 3G, H). These results suggest that FEZF2 does not influence the rate of divisions of IPs. However, there is a 17% and 20% decrease in the total number of TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells in the cKO at E17.5 and P0, respectively (Figure 3E, F). The total number of dividing cells (EdU<sup>+</sup> and PH3<sup>+</sup>) at E17.5 and at P0 remains unchanged, which indicates that the cKO reduction in TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells is not caused by a shortage of RGCs. However, KI67<sup>+</sup> and EdU<sup>+</sup> cells are clustering closer to VZ in the cKO, which suggests a lack of RGC differentiation (Figure 2). It also appears that the total number of dividing cells differentiating into TBR2<sup>+</sup> IPs is decreased in the cKO (Figure 3I). These data suggest that the *cKO* reduction in TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells is not caused by a change in the rate of IP proliferation, but rather a decrease in the rate at which RGCs differentiate into IPs. Therefore, *Fezf2* expression in RGCs ensures their differentiation into TBR2+ IPs. In conclusion, Fezf2 maintains the balance between RGC self renewal and neuronal differentiation.



**Figure 4: FEZF2 does not influence the cortical density of Glial subtypes perinatally. A-B.** Quantifications and images taken from the M1 region of cortical plate. **A.** At E17.5, there is no significant change in the total number of glial cells (OLIG2<sup>+</sup>) or the ratio of SOX10<sup>+</sup> oligodendrocytes compared to the total number of glial cells between the control (top panel)

and Fezf2 *cKO* (bottom panel). **B.** At P0, there is no significant change in the number of astrocytes (ALDH1L1<sup>+</sup>). **C.** At P0, there is no significant change in the number of GABAergic OB interneuron progenitors (GSX2<sup>+</sup>) in the VZ and SVZ. GSX2<sup>+</sup> cells give rise to SP8<sup>+</sup> OB interneurons. **A-C.** Data gathered from n=3 brains, 3 sections per brain (student's unpaired t-test, n.s.=not significant). Each dot represents the average of three sections from the same brain. Error bars represent SEM.

#### Absence of FEZF2 in RGCs likely does not impact glial or OB interneuron generation

In order to investigate how FEZF2 affects RGC differentiation, *Fezf2* was conditionally knocked out in RGCs using the same *cKO*. *hGFAP-Cre* begins being expressed at E13.5, at which time point RGCs have already given rise to deep layer neurons, but most upper layer neurons, glia and OB interneurons have yet to be generated (11, 47). GSX2<sup>+</sup> progenitors differentiate into SP8<sup>+</sup> cells, which was used to mark immature and mature GABAergic OB interneurons (Figure 4C). At P0, there is no significant difference in the number of GSX2<sup>+</sup> cells in the dorsal VZ and SVZ (Figure 4C). Nor is there a significant change in the density of cells expressing the astrocyte marker ALDH1L1 in the cortex (Figure 4B). These results indicate that FEZF2 is not necessary for regulating OB interneuron or astrocyte generation between E13.5 and P0. Similarly, at E17.5, there is no significant difference in the density of cortical OLIG2<sup>+</sup> cells, which is expressed in most glial cell types (Figure 4). Additionally, the ratio of SOX10<sup>+</sup> expressing oligodendrocytes relative to the total of Olig2<sup>+</sup> glial cells is not significantly changed between the *cKO* and control (Figure 4A). Hence, *Fezf2* expression in RGCs is not necessary for regulating oligodendrocyte generation.

Even though there was not a significant change in the total number of cells expressing these markers, there does appear to be a slight increase in  $OLIG2^+$  and  $ALDH1L1^+$  cells in the *cKO*. If there is a slight increase that would be found to be significant with analysis of more brains, then this result would be coherent with the data derived from analysis of TBR2<sup>+</sup> cells. The *cKO* showed a reduction in TBR2<sup>+</sup> IPs, which are neuronal

progenitors, so it would make sense that the RGCs would instead preferentially differentiate into oligodendrocytes or astrocytes.



**Figure 5: Fezf2 expression in RGCs does not influence post-mitotic differentiation potential. A-B.** Temporal lineage tracing was performed by giving Tamoxifen at E14.5 and harvesting Fezf2<sup>-/-</sup> Fezf2CreER<sup>+/-</sup> RCE-GFP<sup>+/-</sup> and Fezf2<sup>+/+</sup> Fezf2CreER<sup>+/-</sup> RCE-GFP<sup>+/-</sup> brains at P7. **A.** OLIG2 labels all glial subtypes and SOX9 is specific to astrocytes as can be seen by starlike morphology of triple labeled cells. **B.** SOX10 labels a subtype of oligodendrocytes. **C-E.** The proportion of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells that express either OLIG2, SOX10 or SOX9 in 1.6 mm<sup>2</sup> regions of the motor cortex. Each dot represents the average of 3 cortical sections from one brain and the line is drawn between littermate controls. A littermate controlled student's

paired t-test was performed for the lineage tracing since it is expected that the ratios of GFP<sup>+</sup> clones of a specific glial subtypes may vary slightly between litters. This is because the time of tamoxifen injection relative to the time point of embryonic development is dependent on the time at which the mouse was impregnated. **F-H.** The mean of the data in C-E, respectively. There was no significant difference for any of the markers. n=3 brains, 3 sections per brain. (Student's paired T-test). Error bars represent SEM.

#### Lineage Tracing suggests knocking out Fezf2 does not impact identity of RGC clones

Unlike analysis of the *Fezf2 cKO*, lineage tracing allows for determining the cell autonomous function of FEZF2 in RGC differentiation by analysis of the RGC clones. Using this method prevents a potential compensatory mechanism from skewing the data on how FEZF2 influences differentiation. A tamoxifen inducible *Fezf2-CreER*<sup>T2</sup> allele was used to perform lineage tracing in Fezf2<sup>+/+</sup> and Fezf2<sup>-/-</sup> mice. Using *Fezf2-CreER*<sup>T2</sup>, Cre is expressed in the same RGCs that express FEZF2 and RCEGFP is a reporter that allows for visualization of clones of fRGCs (11). Previously, it was shown that at E16.5 RGCs begin to transition from generating neurons to glial cells (11). We administered tamoxifen at E14.5 to label a substantial portion of all clonal subtypes generated during cortical development. Specifically, between E14.5 and P21, 59% of RGCs clones are neurons, 23% are astrocytes and 15% are oligodendrocytes (11).

Since the *cKO* exhibits a reduced quit fraction and a decrease in nIPC differentiation, one possibility is that *KO* RGC clones would alternatively generate a higher proportion of glia and OB interneurons. However, there was no significant difference between the *Fezf2 KO* and *WT* in the percentage of Sox10<sup>+</sup>, Sox9<sup>+</sup> or Olig2<sup>+</sup> GFP<sup>+</sup> colabeled cells out of the total of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells (Figure 5). The averages for the *KO* and *WT* were: SOX9<sup>+</sup>(45% vs. 40%), SOX10<sup>+</sup>(14% vs. 13%) and OLIG2<sup>+</sup>(34% vs. 42%), respectively. These data indicate Fezf2 expression in RGCs likely does not impact lineage differentiation into oligodendrocytes, astrocytes or neurons.

#### Discussion

Using a Fezf2 antibody, we showed that *Fezf2* is expressed in the cortical RGCs (Figure 1, 35). Immunohistochemistry shows a decrease of FEZF2 Antibody in the VZ of the *cKO* (Figure 1). In the control, the stain shows the presence of functional FEZF2. The loxP sites in the *Fezf2*<sup>#/#</sup> construct flank exon 2 of *Fezf2*, such that when Cre is expressed, exon 2 is excised from the genome (12). Hence, in the *cKO*, FEZF2 signal can be visualized because the truncated nonfunctional protein expressed in hGFAP-Cre<sup>+</sup> progenitors may be binding to the FEZF2 antibody. An *in situ* experiment with a probe specific to the excised exon would be a more accurate depiction of FEZF2 expression and very little to no signal would be expected in the VZ/SVZ of the *cKO*.

The quit fraction results indicate that FEZF2's function in RGCs is to promote cell cycle exit. The same conclusion was drawn from electroporation of *Fezf2* overexpression and EGFP reporter plasmids into human cortical progenitor cells *in vitro* (20). This experiment showed that *Fezf2* overexpression resulted in a decreased proportion of KI67<sup>+</sup> cells (20). Similarly, FEZF2 was found to be required for maintaining quiescence in adult zebrafish dorsal telencephalic (DTel) radial glia-like progenitors (RGLs) (23). *Fezf2* expression was found to be high in quiescent and low in proliferative DTel RGLs and in postnatal mouse hippocampal NSCs (23). Gene expression analysis on FACS purified cells showed that FEZF2 was an upstream regulator of many notch pathway genes, particularly *her4.1*, which may be critical for FEZF2's regulation of the cell cycle in adult vertebrate neurogenesis (23).

FEZF2 is not only involved in reducing proliferation of stem cells, but also has the same function in multiple cancers by acting as a tumor suppressor. For example, FEZF2 is a novel biomarker in low-differentiated Colorectal carcinoma tissues and mRNA microarray data showed that *Fezf2* mRNA expression was dramatically decreased in bladder cancer tissues when compared to adjacent non-tumor tissue (22, 21). To test FEZF2's function, the authors ectopically expressed *Fezf2* in multiple bladder cancer cell lines and saw a drastic

decrease in proliferation. Even more notably, overexpression of *Fezf2* eradicated tumorigenicity of bladder cancer *in vivo*. The authors suggest FEZF2 regulates the aggressiveness of the cancer primarily via the NF-KB signaling pathway (21). Consistent with the findings shown here, FEZF2 appears to have the widespread function in vertebrates of preventing or halting cell division during embryonic development and into adulthood. The NF-KB pathway has been found to be integral in human cancer for FEZF2's regulation, while in NSCs of zebrafish, it was the notch pathway. However, it has also been found that there is crosstalk between these two pathways, so more research would need to be done to discover how similar the mechanism of action is of FEZF2 across vertebrate species, cell type and age (24).

So far FEZF2's ability to delay or prevent proliferation is fairly well understood and unanimously agreed upon. However, FEZF2's role in differentiation is more complex and much more dependent on cellular subtype. For example, in the retina, FEZF2 is required for differentiation of cone OFF bipolar cells, while in the cortex it is necessary and sufficient for deep layer neuron projection and morphology (25,12). When *Fezf2* is ectopically expressed in neural striatal progenitors and upper layer neurons it reprograms them to generate clones that express protein markers and exhibit morphology associated with glutamatergic corticospinal neurons (26, 45).

Our data from the *cKO* and lineage tracing *KO* indicate little to no change in glial or OB interneuron generation (Figure 4, 5). The density of cells expressing oligodendrocyte, astrocyte and OB interneuron protein markers is only slightly altered in the *cKO* and the lineage tracing indicates no change in the cell fate of GFP<sup>+</sup> cells either (Figure 4, 5). There are many more potentially useful experiments that may explain why the proliferation analysis is at odds with the lineage tracing results. For example, the glial cell markers at E17.5, P0 and P7 were only counted in the cortex, not the SVZ or white matter. It is possible that more glial cells are present in the *cKO*, but their migration could be delayed. If there is no change at P0 or P7 in the number of glial cells in the white matter or SVZ, then perhaps even though

the quit fraction indicates RGCs proliferate for longer in the *cKO*, maybe a lack of FEZF2 causes premature differentiation into glia and a higher rate of immature glia undergoing cell death. This could be determined by performing a caspase stain analyzing Caspase<sup>+</sup>OLIG2<sup>+</sup>/OLIG2<sup>+</sup> (or another cell type specific marker).

Additionally, the lineage tracing performed in our experiment identified the clones of RGCs that would have expressed *Fezf2* in the *Fezf2 KO* (Figure 5). The data from this genotype could have been compromising since Fezf2 was knocked out in the whole animal. *Fezf2* is normally expressed during neural tube development and the developing brain may have already compensated for a lack of *Fezf2* expression. In order to more accurately assess FEZF2's function in a clinically relevant way, our lab is electroporating Cre into the lateral ventricle of *Fezf2<sup>fl/pl</sup> RCEGFP<sup>+/-</sup>* and *Fezf2<sup>fl/wt</sup> RCEGFP<sup>+/-</sup>* mice at E14.5 and assessing the identities of the GFP<sup>+</sup> clones at P7. This experiment allows for normal development so that any potential external signaling to compensate for a lack of FEZF2 during the whole of development is avoided. Therefore, the focus is only on the fate of a few NSCs in which *Fezf2* is knocked out.

Despite some discrepancies in our data, a need to investigate further using other methods and also a closer examination of the phenotypes of the aforementioned genotypes, our *cKO* and lineage tracing data so far shows that knocking out *Fezf2* completely or in RGCs at E13.5 has either no or minimal effect on the generation of glial subtypes or OB interneurons. In other words, *Fezf2* expression in RGCs, at least after E14.5 does not dictate post mitotic differentiation potential. This data suggests that levels of *Fezf2* expression in RGCs *in vivo* does not alter the ultimate cell identity of RGC clones. An absence of *Fezf2* in RGCs may not influence cell fate but ectopic overexpression of RGCs does.

Overexpression of *Fezf2* at P4 using lentiviral injections in the dorsal VZ found that ectopic expression of *Fezf2* reprograms SVZ NSCs to become pyramidal-like glutamatergic neurons instead of GABAergic granule cells (27). However, *Fezf2* overexpression did not

alter the identity of transit-amplifying progenitors or neuroblasts that were bound for OB interneuron fate (27).

FEZF2's fairly well understood function in regulating the cell cycle in a variety of cell types may be important for designing novel cancer treatments. Further understanding transcriptional regulators, such as FEZF2 and their function in differentiation *in vivo* and their potential for reprogramming multipotent progenitors postnatally is of critical importance for treating neurological diseases and disorders that are currently incurable, such as autism, schizophrenia, ALS and other neurodegenerative diseases.

#### Methods

#### Animals

Experiments were conducted in accordance with protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee at University of California at Santa Cruz. The morning of vaginal plug detection and the day of birth was termed E0.5 and P0, respectively. Analysis was performed irrespective of sex.

*hGFAP-Cre* (JAX no. 004600), *RCE-GFP*, *Fezf2<sup>-/-</sup>*, *Fezf2<sup>1//1</sup>* mice were described previously (15, 13, 16, 17). The driver mouse line *Fezf2-CreER*<sup>T2</sup> was generated via alteration of the *Fezf2 BACRP23-141E17* (14).

The *cKO* is  $Fezf2^{fl/-} hGFAP$ -Cre and the control is  $Fezf2^{fl/+}$ . The knockout  $Fezf2^{-/-}$ Fezf2-CreER<sup>T2</sup> RCE-GFP and control  $Fezf2^{+/+}$  Fezf2-CreER<sup>T2</sup> RCE-GFP were analyzed for lineage tracing. PCR used to determine genotypes (Table 2).

#### Immunohistochemistry

Trans-cardiac perfusion was used to circulate 1X PBS and 4% paraformaldehyde in 1X PBS. Post-fixation of brains was achieved by submerging in 4% paraformaldehyde and 0.1% saponin in 1X PBS overnight at 4°C, followed by cryoprotection in 30% sucrose in PBS. Immunohistochemistry was conducted according to standard protocols. 25-µm-thick brain sections were washed with 0.03% Triton X-100 in 1XPBS for 15 minutes. Slides were submerged in citrate buffer (10mM citric acid monohydrate, 0.05% Tween-20, pH 6.0), boiled 5 times in a microwave and then rested in the solution until they cooled to RT. This was followed by a 30 minute blocking period with 5% horse serum, 0.03% Triton X-100 in 1XPBS. Upon removal of the blocking buffer, primary antibodies (diluted in the blocking buffer) were applied to the slides for 24 hours at 4°C (see table 1). The slides were then washed with 1XPBS, followed by a 2 hours RT incubation of secondary antibodies conjugated to Alexa 488, Alexa 546, or Alexa 647 derived from Jackson ImmunoResearch and Invitrogen. The slides were washed with 0.03% Triton X-100 in 1XPBS for 25 minutes and then stained for DAPI for 20 minutes prior to being mounted using Fluoromount-G<sup>™</sup>.

#### EdU labeling and Quit Fraction

Timed pregnant *hGFAPcre<sup>+/-</sup> Fezf2<sup>+/-</sup>* bred to *Fezf2<sup>fl/fl</sup>* mice were injected with a single dose of EdU (25mg/kg; Thermo Fisher Scientific, E10187) at E16.5 and brains were collected at E17.5 exactly 24 hours later or EdU was given at E18.5 and brains were collected 24 hours later at P0. Quit fraction was determined by KI67<sup>-</sup>EdU<sup>+</sup>/EdU<sup>+</sup> cells in the VZ and SVZ. For 2 hour analysis, the procedure was the same except that at E17.5 the pregnant mouse was injected prior to retrieving pups and at P0 the pups were injected.

EdU visualization was performed after the washing process of primary antibodies was complete by incubating slides for 45 minutes in a click-chemistry reaction containing the following reagents per 1 ml of reaction: 950ul 100mM Tris PH 7.4, 40ul 100 mM CuSO4, 10ul 200 mg/mL sodium ascorbate, and 1ul azide 488 or 555. *cKO (Fezf2<sup>fl/-</sup> hGFAPcre<sup>+/-</sup>)* and control (*Fezf2<sup>fl/+</sup>*) littermates were analyzed.

#### Lineage Tracing

Timed pregnant  $Fezf2^{+/-} Fezf2$ - $CreER^{T_2}$  bred with  $Fezf2^{+/-}RCE$ - $GFP^{+/-}$  were administered Tamoxifen orally at 150 mg/kg at E14.5 and brains were collected at P7. Knockout ( $Fezf2^{+/-}$ Fezf2- $CreER^{T_2}$   $RCEGFP^{+/-}$ ) and wildtype ( $Fezf2^{+/+}$  Fezf2- $CreER^{T_2}$   $RCEGFP^{+/-}$ ) were analyzed.

#### Image acquisition and quantification

The Zeiss 880 confocal microscope was used to attain images for quantitative analyses. Laser power and gain were fine-tuned so that only a few cells were saturated. Photoshop was used to hand count single z-slices. For *cKO* analysis, 500  $\mu$ m wide cortical regions were counted. KI67<sup>+</sup>, TBR2<sup>+</sup>, EdU<sup>+</sup> cells were counted in 250  $\mu$ m wide regions and for PH3<sup>+</sup> and GSX2<sup>+</sup> cells the whole dLV was counted. For lineage tracing analysis, 1.6 mm<sup>2</sup> regions of all 6 cortical layers were counted. For each brain and marker, analysis was performed on 3 to 4 sections derived from the S1 or M1 regions. The anterior-posterior, medial-lateral positions of the quantified regions for the genotypes of comparison were matched as closely as possible. The number of particles were counted using FIJI and each particle is considered a cell. Only single Z-slice confocal images were used in cell quantifications. For each genotype and each age, between 1 and 3 different brains were analyzed. Data are shown as mean  $\pm$  SEM . Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5.0. Statistical significance was only determined for experiments that had n=3. T-tests assuming gaussian distribution were used to determine significance. Significance was set as \* for p < 0.05, \*\* for p < 0.01, \*\*\* for p < 0.001 and \*\*\*\* for p<0.0001 all significance tests.

A paired t-test was performed for all lineage tracing and EdU data in which only counts within the same litter were compared since Edu is injected and may vary slightly between mice. Unpaired t-test were used for the remaining data.

Antibody	Host (M or P)	Cat. Number	Dilution	Immunogen	Source
ALDH1L1	Rabbit (P)	ab103935	1:1000	Synthetic peptide within Mouse ALDH1L1 aa 300-400 conjugated to keyhole limpet haemocyanin.	abcam
GFP	Chicken (P)	GFP-1020	1:500	Recombinant GFP protein emulsified in Freund's adjuvant	Aves Labs
GSH2	Rabbit (P)	ABN162	1:1000	KLH-conjugated linear peptide corresponding to the C-terminus of mouse Gsh2	EMD Millipore
OLIG2	Mouse (M)	MABN50	1:500	Recombinant protein corresponding to human Olig2	EMD Millipore
РННЗ	Mouse (M)	9706	1:250	KLH-conjugated Synthetic peptide to SER10 phosphorylated Histone 3	Cell Signaling Technology
TBR2	Rabbit(P)	ab23345	1:500	Synthetic peptide conjuaged to KLH derived from within residues 650 to the C-terminus of MouseTBR2/Eomes	abcam
SOX10	Goat (P)	AF2864	1:200	E. coli-derived recombinant human SOX10	Bio-techne
SP8	Goat (P)	sc-104661	1:2000	Peptide mapping to C-terminus of human Sp8	Santa Cruz Biotechnology
KI67	Mouse (M)	550609	1:50	Human KI-67	BD Pharmingen
SOX9	Rabbit		1:1000	Recombinant fragment within Human SOX9 aa 150-300 (internal sequence).	Abcam

Table 1. The following antibodies were used in this study. \*M=Monoclonal; P=Polyclonal

Table 2: Primers used for Genotyping.

Gene target	BC #	Primer sequence
RCE-GFP	BC 1553	CCC AAA GTC GCT CTG AGT TG
	BC 1554	GAA GGA GCG GGA GAA ATG GAT
	BC 1555	CCA GGC GGG CCA TTT ACC GTA
Generic-Cre	BC 123	ACC AGA GAC GGA AAT CCA TCG CTC
	BC124	TGC CAC GAC CAA GTG ACA GCA ATG
Fezf2-PLAP	BC 164	CAC CCC GGT GAA CAG CTC CTC GCC CTT GCT CAC CAT
	BC 202	CTG CAT GGC TCG GAA CGC ATC TCC TTG GCG GTG GGG GAA AGA G
Fezf2-WT	BC 252	TTG AAT GCA AAT GGG TGA CCG GGC CG
	BC 253	GTT TTA GAA GTG GCC GGT GAC GCT CC
Fezf2-flox	BC 1563	CTG CCT TGT ACA CCTTTC TCT
	BC 1564	GAG ACC TAG GCA AGG GAC AGT
Fezf2-CreER	BC 1551	TCA CGC GGA GGG GAA GAT GTT
	BC 1552	GTG GCA GCC CGG ACC GAC GAT

#### References

1. Shimizu, Take

shi, and Masahiko Hibi. "Formation and patterning of the forebrain and olfactory system by zinc-finger genes Fezf1 and Fezf2." *Development, growth & differentiation* vol. 51,3 (2009): 221-31. doi:10.1111/j.1440-169X.2009.01088.x

2. Bensaid, M., Loe-Mie, Y., Lepagnol-Bestel, A. Multi-hit autism genomic architecture evidenced from consanguineous families with involvement of FEZF2 and mutations in high-risk genes. *Researchgate, DOI:10.1101/759480 (2019).* 

3.Stelzer G, Rosen R, Plaschkes I, Zimmerman S, Twik M, Fishilevich S, Iny Stein T, Nudel R, Lieder I, Mazor Y, Kaplan S, Dahary D, Warshawsky D, Guan - Golan Y, Kohn A, Rappaport N, Safran M, and Lancet D. *The GeneCards Suite: From Gene Data Mining to Disease Genome Sequence Analysis*, Current Protocols in Bioinformatics(2016), 54:1.30.1 - 1.30.33.doi: 10.1002 / cpbi.5. [PDF]

4. Chen, Jie-Guang et al. "Zfp312 is required for subcortical axonal projections and dendritic morphology of deep-layer pyramidal neurons of the cerebral cortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 102,49 (2005): 17792-7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0509032102

5. Martin, L J et al. "Mechanisms for neuronal degeneration in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and in models of motor neuron death (Review)." *International journal of molecular medicine* vol. 5,1 (2000): 3-13. doi:10.3892/ijmm.5.1.3.

6. Hill, M.A. (2020, November 5) Embryology *Mouse Timeline Detailed*. Retrieved from https://embryology.med.unsw.edu.au/embryology/index.php/Mouse\_Timeline\_Detailed

7. Bishop, Kathie M et al. "Distinct actions of Emx1, Emx2, and Pax6 in regulating the specification of areas in the developing neocortex." *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* vol. 22,17 (2002): 7627-38. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-17-07627.2002

8. Dwyer, Noelle D et al. "Neural Stem Cells to Cerebral Cortex: Emerging Mechanisms Regulating Progenitor Behavior and Productivity." *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience* vol. 36,45 (2016): 11394-11401. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2359-16.2016

9. Del Bene, Filippo. "Interkinetic nuclear migration: cell cycle on the move." *The EMBO journal* vol. 30,9 (2011): 1676-7. doi:10.1038/emboj.2011.114

10. Merkle, Florian T, and Arturo Alvarez-Buylla. "Neural stem cells in mammalian development." *Current opinion in cell biology* vol. 18,6 (2006): 704-9. doi:10.1016/j.ceb.2006.09.008

11. Guo, Chao et al. "Fezf2 expression identifies a multipotent progenitor for neocortical projection neurons, astrocytes, and oligodendrocytes." *Neuron* vol. 80,5 (2013): 1167-74. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2013.09.037

12. Tastad, D., Tsyporin, J. (2020). Transcriptional Repression by FEZF2 Restricts Alternative Identities of Cortical Projection Neurons. Manuscript submitted for Publication, University of California, Santa Cruz.

13. Sousa, V. H., Miyoshi, G., Hjerling-Leffler, J., Karayannis, T. and Fishell, G. (2009). Characterization of Nkx6-2-derived neocortical interneuron lineages. Cereb Cortex, 19 Suppl 1, i1-10.

14. Lee, E. C., Yu, D., Martinez de Velasco, J., Tessarollo, L., Swing, D. A., Court, D. L., Jenkins, N. A. and Copeland, N. G. (2001). A highly efficient Escherichia coli-based chromosome engineering system adapted for recombinogenic targeting and subcloning of BAC DNA. Genomics, 73, 56-65.

15. Luo, Lin et al. "Optimizing Nervous System-Specific Gene Targeting with Cre Driver Lines: Prevalence of Germline Recombination and Influencing Factors." *Neuron* vol. 106,1 (2020): 37-65.e5. doi:10.1016/j.neuron.2020.01.008

16. Chen, Bin et al. "Fezl regulates the differentiation and axon targeting of layer 5 subcortical projection neurons in the cerebral cortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 102,47 (2005): 17184-9. doi:10.1073/pnas.0508732102

17. Han, Wenqi et al. "TBR1 directly represses Fezf2 to control the laminar origin and development of the corticospinal tract." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 108,7 (2011): 3041-6. doi:10.1073/pnas.1016723108

18. Rowitch, David H, and Arnold R Kriegstein. "Developmental genetics of vertebrate glial-cell specification." *Nature* vol. 468,7321 (2010): 214-22. doi:10.1038/nature09611

19. Bayraktar, Omer Ali et al. "Astrocyte development and heterogeneity." *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* vol. 7,1 a020362. 20 Nov. 2014, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a020362

20. Aslam, A. Cortical gliogenesis and genetic engineering of glial progenitors for neuroprotection. (2016). Unpublished manuscript, PhD thesis.

21. Chen, Zhaohui et al. "Loss of Fezf2 promotes malignant progression of bladder cancer by regulating the NF-κB signaling pathway." *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* vol. 98,9 (2018): 1225-1236. doi:10.1038/s41374-018-0077-9

22. Li, X., Gan, Y., & Chen, D. (2014). Proteomic analysis reveals novel proteins associated with progression and differentiation of colorectal carcinoma. Journal of Cancer Research and Therapeutics, 10(1), 89. doi:10.4103/0973-1482.131396.

23. Berberoglu, M. A., Dong, Z., Li, G., Zheng, J., Trejo Martinez, L. d. C. G., Peng, J., ... Guo, S. (2014). *Heterogeneously Expressed fezf2 Patterns Gradient Notch Activity in Balancing the Quiescence, Proliferation, and Differentiation of Adult Neural Stem Cells. Journal of Neuroscience, 34(42), 13911–13923.* doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1976-14.2014.

24. Osipo, Clodia et al. "Off the beaten pathway: the complex cross talk between Notch and NF-kappaB." *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology* vol. 88,1 (2008): 11-7. doi:10.1038/labinvest.3700700

25. Suzuki-Kerr H, Iwagawa T, Sagara H, Mizota A, Suzuki Y, Watanabe S. Pivotal roles of Fezf2 in differentiation of cone OFF bipolar cells and functional maturation of cone ON bipolar cells in retina. Exp Eye Res. 2018 Jun;171:142-154. doi: 10.1016/j.exer.2018.03.017. Epub 2018 Mar 17. PMID: 29559301.

26. Rouaux, C., Arlotta, P. *Fezf2* directs the differentiation of corticofugal neurons from striatal progenitors *in vivo*. *Nat Neurosci* 13, 1345–1347 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.2658

27. Zuccotti, Annalisa et al. "The transcription factor Fezf2 directs the differentiation of neural stem cells in the subventricular zone toward a cortical phenotype." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 111,29 (2014): 10726-31. doi:10.1073/pnas.1320290111

28. Aamodt, S. Focus on glia and disease. *Nat Neurosci* 10, 1349 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1038/nn1107-1349

29. Kwan, Kenneth Y. "Transcriptional dysregulation of neocortical circuit assembly in ASD." *International review of neurobiology* vol. 113 (2013): 167-205. doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-418700-9.00006-X

30. Chen, Vivian S et al. "Histology Atlas of the Developing Prenatal and Postnatal Mouse Central Nervous System, with Emphasis on Prenatal Days E7.5 to E18.5." *Toxicologic pathology* vol. 45,6 (2017): 705-744. doi:10.1177/0192623317728134

31. Sanes, Dan Harvey, et al. *Development of the Nervous System*. Academic Press, an Imprint of Elsevier, 2019.

32. Purves, D., Augustine G.J., et al. *Neuroscience: Fifth Edition.* Sinauer, 2012.

33. Li, Lian Tao et al. "Ki67 is a promising molecular target in the diagnosis of cancer (review)." *Molecular medicine reports* vol. 11,3 (2015): 1566-72. doi:10.3892/mmr.2014.2914

34. Englund, Chris et al. "Pax6, Tbr2, and Tbr1 are expressed sequentially by radial glia, intermediate progenitor cells, and postmitotic neurons in developing neocortex." *The Journal* 

of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience vol. 25,1 (2005): 247-51. doi:10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2899-04.2005

35. Zuccotti, Annalisa et al. "The transcription factor Fezf2 directs the differentiation of neural stem cells in the subventricular zone toward a cortical phenotype." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 111,29 (2014): 10726-31. doi:10.1073/pnas.1320290111

36. Schmid, Marie-Theres et al. "The role of α-E-catenin in cerebral cortex development: radial glia specific effect on neuronal migration." *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* vol. 8 215.
7 Aug. 2014, doi:10.3389/fncel.2014.00215

37. Bizzotto, Sara, and Fiona Francis. "Morphological and functional aspects of progenitors perturbed in cortical malformations." *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience* vol. 9 30. 12 Feb. 2015, doi:10.3389/fncel.2015.00030

38. D'Arcy, Brooke R, and Debra L Silver. "Local gene regulation in radial glia: Lessons from across the nervous system." *Traffic (Copenhagen, Denmark)*, 10.1111/tra.12769. 14 Oct. 2020, doi:10.1111/tra.12769

39. Datta, I., Majumdar, D., Ganapathy, K., & Bhonde, R. R. (2014). *Stem Cells and Neuronal Differentiation. Stem Cell Therapy for Organ Failure, 71–101.* doi:10.1007/978-81-322-2110-4\_5

**40**. Sultan, Khadeejah T, and Song-Hai Shi. "Generation of diverse cortical inhibitory interneurons." *Wiley interdisciplinary reviews. Developmental biology* vol. 7,2 (2018): 10.1002/wdev.306. doi:10.1002/wdev.306

41. Wan, Feng et al. "Proliferation and Glia-Directed Differentiation of Neural Stem Cells in the Subventricular Zone of the Lateral Ventricle and the Migratory Pathway to the Lesions after Cortical Devascularization of Adult Rats." *BioMed research international* vol. 2016 (2016): 3625959. doi:10.1155/2016/3625959

42. Hirata, Tsutomu et al. "Zinc-finger gene Fez in the olfactory sensory neurons regulates development of the olfactory bulb non-cell-autonomously." *Development (Cambridge, England)* vol. 133,8 (2006): 1433-43. doi:10.1242/dev.02329

43. Lodato, Simona et al. "Cerebral cortex assembly: generating and reprogramming projection neuron diversity." *Trends in neurosciences* vol. 38,2 (2015): 117-25. doi:10.1016/j.tins.2014.11.003

44. Chen, Bin et al. "The Fezf2-Ctip2 genetic pathway regulates the fate choice of subcortical projection neurons in the developing cerebral cortex." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* vol. 105,32 (2008): 11382-7. doi:10.1073/pnas.0804918105

45. Rouaux, Caroline, and Paola Arlotta. "Direct lineage reprogramming of post-mitotic callosal neurons into corticofugal neurons in vivo." *Nature cell biology* vol. 15,2 (2013): 214-21. doi:10.1038/ncb2660

46. Bayraktar, Omer Ali et al. "Astrocyte development and heterogeneity." *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology* vol. 7,1 a020362. 20 Nov. 2014, doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a020362

47. Zhuo, L et al. "hGFAP-cre transgenic mice for manipulation of glial and neuronal function in vivo." *Genesis (New York, N.Y. : 2000)* vol. 31,2 (2001): 85-94. doi:10.1002/gene.10008